RECEIVED

08-28-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I Case No. 2014AP001189-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

LAVONTE M. PRICE,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, Honorable Charles F. Kahn, Jr., Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Honorable M. Joseph Donald, Presiding, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

RANDALL E. PAULSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1010266

735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 Email: <u>paulsonr@opd.wi.gov</u>

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is Mr. Price entitled to withdraw his guilty pleas because the circuit court repeatedly participated in plea negotiations?

Denying the postconviction motion, Judge M. Joseph Donald acknowledged that Judge Charles F. Kahn, Jr. had "suggested a possible plea resolution after he rejected the defendant's plea to the original offer..." (49:2, App. 102).¹

The postconviction court did not dispute other claims of judicial participation, but concluded the circuit court had not done or said anything that "led up to" the plea agreement that was ultimately reached. (49:3, App. 103).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because Mr. Price believes the circuit court's actions plainly violated the bright-line rule of *State v. Williams*, 2003 WI App 116, ¶16, 265 Wis. 2d 229, 666 N.W.2d 58, he does not believe publication is necessary. Mr. Price would welcome oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint alleging that Mr. Price committed two robberies on December 27, 2012, and an attempted robbery, as a party to the crime, the following day. *See*, Wis. Stat. §§943.32(1)(b), 939.05, and 939.32 (2011-12).

¹ This brief will refer to Judge Kahn as the circuit court and to Judge Donald as the postconviction court.

A plea hearing was commenced on August 31, 2012. (61, App. 104-115). Before that hearing, the parties had reached an agreement that required Mr. Price to plead guilty as charged to robbery—count two. It required the State to seek dismissal and the reading-in of the other two counts, and it permitted the State to seek prison but not a specific duration. (61:2, App. 105). As discussed below, the court rejected the plea after completing most of the colloquy, finding that Mr. Price failed to admit a factual basis. (*Id.* at 8-9, App. 111-112).

The circuit court set the case for trial after suggesting the matter could be disposed of by amending the charges to enough counts of theft-from-person (for which Mr. Price had admitted sufficient facts) that would provide the same potential maximum punishment. (*Id.* at 9, App. 112). Later, Mr. Price unsuccessfully attempted to take the original deal. (62, App. 116-164).

On October 8, 2012, under a different plea agreement, Mr. Price entered pleas to counts two and three. Count one was amended to add a party-to-a-crime allegation, and was dismissed and read in for sentencing. (64).

The circuit imposed sentences on January 10, 2013. (65). On count two, Mr. Price was sentenced to 10 years of initial confinement and five years on extended supervision. On count three, the court imposed and stayed five years of initial confinement and 2.5 years on extended supervision, and placed Mr. Price on consecutive probation for five years. (32).

Mr. Price moved for post-conviction relief, seeking plea withdrawal based on judicial participation in plea negotiations. (44). The postconviction court ordered briefs. (46, 47). The court denied the motion without a hearing. (49, App. 101-103). Mr. Price appeals. (50).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 31, 2012, the circuit court received plearelated paperwork and conducted most of the colloquy mandated by case law and Wis. Stat. §971.08. (17; 61, App. 104-115). When the court asked whether Mr. Price admitted to a factual basis, Mr. Price failed to admit robbery's element that he used force or the threat of force. Instead, Mr. Price contended that, when he encountered the victim in count two, he threw up his arms in a surrendering manner. The victim responded by dropping her purse, and Mr. Price simply took advantage of that, grabbing the purse and running away. (61:7-8, App. 110-111).

In response to further questioning, Mr. Price stated that, while he had no intent to threaten the victim she "...probably felt it herself." The court responded this admission was not "quite good enough. We have a trial [date]. We are ready. We will have the trial on September 24." (61:8, App. 111). The court suggested Mr. Price was too embarrassed to admit what he had done. (*Id.* at 8-9, App. 111-112). Mr. Price denied embarrassment, indicating he did not feel he had threatened the victim. (*Id.* at 9, App. 112). The court stated:

You know, Ms. Hardtke, Mr. Goodrich, there is a possibility if you want to work out a slightly different kind of agreement, and that would be not more robberies but for thefts from person on multiple counts, if there was three counts of theft from person and no robbery, there would be the same amount of exposure or more, but, you know, that's up to the parties to decide. The trial is on, and I will see you then on September 24. I

don't see any other trials that will interfere with our ability to have this one. [*Id.*]

The court asked defense counsel if there would be "any benefit in scheduling something between now and then." (*Id*). Defense counsel responded that doing that was "always beneficial" if the prosecution saw a reason. (*Id*. at 9-10, App. 112-113). The court said the issue was whether Mr. Price wanted a trial—at which he might argue a lack of intent to threaten, consistent with guilt of theft-from-person only—but the court was not going to find someone guilty unless the elements of the crime were established. The court advised defense counsel that "if Mr. Price remembers things differently between now and then and you want to get in before the trial, that would, you know, be in his best interests to do that, let me know, but I don't see a need to schedule something else, I mean, between now and then." (*Id*. at 10, App. 113).

On the scheduled trial date, September 24, 2012, the court asked whether the parties were prepared to go forward. The State answered that it was. Defense counsel indicated that he had spoken with Mr. Price about resolving the case, but the discussions had been "futile" so he requested that the trial be adjourned. (62:2-3, App. 117-118). The court noted that a firm trial was contemplated. (*Id.* at 3, App. 118).

Defense counsel responded that, based on the court's having encouraged Mr. Price to consider facing up to his responsibility, counsel had the "impression that we were in the same posture of taking the plea today." The court responded, "Okay. Then let's do that." (62:4, App. 119). Defense counsel stated, "We would love to. … but on Friday [three days prior to this hearing on Monday, September 24, 2012], I learned that the offer or plea that—plea of guilty that we had agreed to had now been withdrawn and we were now

looking at two additional charges that my client was facing. ..." (*Id.*). The original offer was "off the table" and the State now agreed to dismiss only one of the counts—not two. (*Id.* at 5, App. 120).

The State confirmed its position that the original deal was off. (*Id.* at 10, App. 125). Nevertheless, the court asked defense counsel, "So if I just go back and continue the guilty plea questionnaire [sic] from where we were, Mr. Price is going to remember it differently now?" (*Id.* at 12, App. 127). Defense counsel responded that Mr. Price now wanted to take the original offer and proceed with the plea. (*Id.* at 12-13, App. 127-128).

The court asked Mr. Price what happened between him and the victim in count two (the count as to which he previously denied threatening force). Mr. Price began an answer but his lawyer asked for "one moment." (*Id.* at 13-14, App. 128-129). Before further questioning on this subject, the prosecutor told the court that, while he was substituting for the assigned prosecutor (who was ill), it was his "impression" that, "after the plea did not go through" originally, the State no longer agreed to a conviction on only one count: Mr. Price could go to trial on all three counts, or plead guilty to two counts (two and three). (*Id.* at 14-15, App. 129-130).

The court believed it was "ludicrous" for defense counsel to appear on the trial date expecting a return to the original agreement, without having scheduled a plea date prior to trial in order to spare the State, its witnesses, and its staff, from having to ready themselves for trial up to the last minute. (*Id.* at 15-16, App. 130-131). On the other hand, the court was "not sure that the State … specifically notified" the

defense that the original offer was "no longer available." (*Id.* at 16, App. 131).

With this question unresolved, the court stated that it was "still interested in knowing what happened on that date, on December 27th, I mean, what really happened, what really happened, not something your lawyer just told you to say, Mr. Price, what really happened." (*Id.* at 17, App. 132). This exchange ensued:

THE COURT: ...Do you want to tell me [what really happened]?

MR. GOODRICH [defense counsel]: It's your call.

THE DEFENDANT: I was in the neighborhood. I was walking. I seen Ms. Maureen, and I walked up behind her, whatever. When she turn't around, I had my hands in the air. And I didn't say anything. I didn't say anything. I walked up to her, and she gave me her purse or whatever. And that's when I took off running with it.

THE COURT: Okay, just a minute. So it went right from her hands to your hand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. I didn't snatch anything.

THE COURT: Did you do something with your arms that threatened the use of force right then and there?

THE DEFENDANT: Probably from me throwing my hands in the air so quickly, she [was] probably frightened from that.

THE COURT: I mean, what was your intent?

THE DEFENDANT: To get the purse.

THE COURT: So you tried to scare her to get the purse?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: In a threatening way?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, Mr. Mineo [prosecutor], why should I not just simply complete the circle here? We had everything except that one little point on the guilty plea on August 31st, I believe. That's my recollection of what we had. Why can't we just conclude the matter in this way? [*Id.* at 18-19, App. 133-134.]

The prosecutor answered that, after Mr. Price failed to plead guilty to the single count, the State assumed the matter was set for trial. The State expended resources, got additional information from victims and now believed it was only appropriate to dismiss only one count, rather than two. (*Id.* at 19-20, App. 134-135). The court reiterated its question as to when and how the State had informed the defense that the original offer "would not be available at some later time..." (*Id.* at 20, App. 135). Expressing disappointment because the parties had failed to stay in touch as to the status of the case, the court asked the State again if it informed the defense only three days before the hearing that the original offer was revoked. (*Id.* at 22-23, App. 137-138).

The court spoke to Mr. Price about the decisions he faced and, in doing so, the court offered characterizations of the State's newly proposed plea agreement. The court noted, in essence, that Mr. Price was at fault for the collapse of the original deal because he was slow to "remember that you really threatened" the victim. (*Id.* at 30, App. 145). The court suggested that the only real issue "in terms of whether it's going to get resolved today versus going to trial today", was

whether Mr. Price would accept the added exposure of the second charge. (*Id.* at 31, App. 146).

The court stated that Mr. Price had, "basically, already pleaded guilty to" one count of robbery. (*Id.* at 30, App. 145). As it thus explained the newly proposed plea offer to Mr. Price, the court also discussed what it called its "partly legal and partly discretionary" decision "…whether I should just say it's all done and now we just have to set a date for sentencing because Mr. Price completed the guilty plea that he tried to do earlier." (*Id.* at 32, App. 147).

Eventually, the court concluded that the State gave the defense adequate notice that its original offer was revoked. Therefore, the court concluded it could not simply enforce the original offer by scheduling sentencing on one count. However, the court added, "…I would like to do that with Mr. Price's clarification of what happened on the day of the robbery." (*Id.* at 37, App. 152).

Before adjourning, Judge Kahn told Mr. Price that being decisive "is something we all have to do in life." (*Id.* at 47, App. 162). The judge characterized Mr. Price's decision as whether to "just sit[] there and see[] if they can prove" him guilty, or to "recognize what you did." The court added that, if Mr. Price chose a trial, the court would not hold that against him. (*Id.*). The court stated it did "not care" which choice Mr. Price made. (*Id.* at 48, App. 163).

ARGUMENT

 I. Because the Circuit Court Participated in Plea Bargaining Leading Up to the Final Plea Agreement, Mr. Price's Pleas are Conclusively Presumed to be Involuntary and He is Entitled to Withdraw Them.

A. Standard of review.

It is a question of constitutional fact whether a guilty plea is involuntary. *State v. Williams*, 2003 WI App 116, ¶10, 265 Wis. 2d 229, 666 N.W.2d 58.

If the plea was involuntary, withdrawal is a matter of right. The circuit court has no discretion. *Id.*, ¶9, *citing State v. Van Camp*, 213 Wis. 2d 131, 139, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997), and *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 283, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

Reviewing courts accept findings of historical or evidentiary fact unless clearly erroneous, but independently determine the constitutional fact of whether a plea is involuntary. *Williams*, 265 Wis. 2d, ¶10. Because the relevant facts come from the transcripts of the circuit court's remarks, this court is just as capable of determining the facts as was the postconviction court. *Cf.*, *State v. Owens*, 148 Wis. 2d 922, 929, 436 N.W.2d 869 (1989) (deference is accorded to a circuit court's resolution of conflicts in testimony because the circuit court observed witness demeanor). As discussed below, the facts are not disputed.

The constitutional fact question in this case is governed by *Williams'* establishment of a "'bright-line' rule." It is that: "...a defendant who has entered a plea, following a judge's participation in the plea negotiation, is conclusively presumed to have entered his [or her] plea involuntarily and is entitled to withdraw it." *Id.* at $\P 16$.

Informing the judge of "a final agreement once it has been reached and before the guilty plea is formally entered" is permissible. State v. Wolfe, 46 Wis. 2d 478, 489, 175 N.W.2d 216 (1970). The bright-line rule of Williams is between judicial participation prior to formation of the plea agreement—when judicial influence is а risk—and participation incident to implementing the agreement or adapting it to changed circumstances, which, occurring after agreement, cannot pose a risk of undue influence. For example, Williams acknowledges State v. Zuniga, 2002 WI App 233, ¶16, 257 Wis.2d 625, 652 N.W.2d 423. There, the judge suggested an amendment "after Zuniga had entered his plea..." Williams agreed the judge in Zuniga acted Williams 265 Wis. 2d, ¶19 (emphasis in appropriately. original.)

The circuit court in *Zuniga* stated that it would give Zuniga the benefit of release on bail pending sentencing. This would give him a chance to prove he could do well in the community, but he would also take a risk: bad performance would permit the State to make a harsher than agreed-to recommendation at sentencing. *Williams*, 265 Wis. 2d, ¶19.

"A court's suggestion to modify a plea agreement *after* an agreement has been reached and the plea has been entered may not conduce the same dangers as judicial participation in the plea bargaining process itself, *before* a plea agreement has been reached and the defendant has made a plea." *Id.* (emphases in original). In this case, the court actively suggested plea bargains before any valid guilty pleas were entered. Therefore, the "danger" that the pleas are involuntary is conclusively presumed pursuant to *Williams*.

- B. The post-conviction court applied the wrong standard to facts plainly showing that the circuit court participated in plea bargaining.
 - 1. The postconviction court acknowledged facts showing that the circuit court tried to influence the parties before and during the plea negotiations that ensued after an initial plea agreement was not completed.

The postconviction court did not dispute the facts as presented above. (49, App. 101-103). It agreed that the original plea agreement was not consummated and admitted that the circuit court, before another agreement was reached, "suggested a possible plea resolution." (App. 102).

This fact alone triggers *Williams*' bright-line rule. The circuit court's explicit statement that the parties should consider pleas to charges more consistent with Mr. Price's factual contentions cannot be characterized as anything other than a directive that the court's views be taken into account. (61:9, App. 112). The court did not state that its suggestion should be ignored.

The circuit court's explicit proposal that the parties consider a specific plea agreement was not the only clear and significant instance of judicial participation. The circuit court sent clear signals to Mr. Price that he could settle his charges in a way the court would reward. 2. The bright-line rule against judicial participation does not require proof that judicial comments induced the plea bargain ultimately reached by the parties.

decision denying plea withdrawal, In its the postconviction court discussed four circumstances. First. even though the circuit court proposed a specific resolution after the initial plea agreement was not completed, the court also stated it "was up to the parties to decide" whether to follow the suggestion. (49:1, App. 101; 61:9, App. 112). Second, the circuit court was "not involved in the original or revised plea offer." (49:2, App. 102). Third, according to the postconviction court, "There is no indication that anything Judge Kahn did or said led up to the plea bargain." (49:3, App. 103). Fourth, the circuit "court gave the defendant additional time to contemplate the revised offer, which he ultimately accepted." (49:2-3, App. 102-103).

None of these circumstances justify the judicial participation the postconviction court acknowledges. After the independent review mandated by *Williams*, this court should find that the guilty pleas are conclusively presumed to be involuntary.

Combined, the first and fourth circumstances identified above show that the circuit court did not order the parties to accept its first proposed approach to the failure of initial plea agreement. The circuit court said the parties could decide what, if any, plea agreement to enter. However, the circuit court never attempted to dissuade the parties from considering its various plea-bargain proposals.

Williams' establishes a bright-line rule precisely because it would be futile—or at least arguably futile for a

court to prevent a defendant from being influenced by judicial suggestions prior to a plea agreement. Once a court participates, it irrevocably injects the bargaining process with the "unequal positions of the judge and the accused." The judge's potential power to mete out maximum sentences is an ever-present threat even when it was unspoken. *Id.*, ¶11 (quoted source omitted).

By the same token, defendants will also be alert to any hints that the judge, who will make the final decision, is inclined to mercy, or at least inclined to give less than the State might want. In this case, the circuit court made clear that it "would like" to see the case resolved with one conviction—the original agreement—rather than two convictions—the revised offer the defendant accepted. (62:37, App. 152). Any defendant could reasonably infer at least a decent possibility that the court was signaling a willingness to blunt, with concurrent sentences, the impact of the additional conviction.

Williams emphasizes that the ban on judicial participation protects even more than defendants' rights. It provides "a foundational rule" reflecting "the proper role of the judiciary..." *Id.* at 15. In Wisconsin, where courts must notify defendants at plea hearings that the court is not bound by plea recommendations, the "proper role" of the court plainly prohibits the conduct at issue here.

For example, the circuit court could have placed itself in a very awkward position. Assume the parties agreed to amend the robbery-related charges to thefts-from-person charges. The court at sentencing, having invited Mr. Price to take this position, would face pressure to accept it. The court would have compromised its discretion to independently determine whether Mr. Price's version of the facts evidenced denial or minimization.

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