## **RECEIVED**

09-15-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A L $^{\hbox{\scriptsize QF}}$ WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1189-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAVONTE M. PRICE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CHARLES F. KAHN, JR., AND THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant Lavonte M. Price, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

#### ARGUMENT

Price was charged with one count of robbery by use of force, one count of robbery by threat of force, and one count of attempted robbery by use of force as a party to a crime (2:1; 5:1). Pursuant to a plea agreement, he entered guilty pleas to the second and third counts and the first count was dismissed and read in (64:2-3, 12-15).

Price filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his pleas (44:1-13). He alleged that the trial court "repeatedly and impermissibly participated in plea bargaining" and that under *State v. Williams*, 2003 WI App 116, 265 Wis. 2d 229, 666 N.W.2d 58, he was conclusively presumed to have entered his pleas involuntarily because of the trial court's actions (44:1). The circuit court denied the motion, ruling that "[t]here is simply no indication that anything Judge Kahn did or said led up to the plea bargain" and that "[u]nder the circumstances, the court does not find that Judge Kahn impermissibly participated in the plea

bargaining process in this case or rendered the defendant's pleas involuntary" (49:3; A-Ap. 103).<sup>1</sup>

Price raises the same arguments on appeal as he did in his postconviction motion. Because the circuit court correctly concluded that Judge Kahn did not impermissibly participate in the plea bargaining process, this court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.

#### I. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS.

"A defendant who seeks to withdraw a plea after sentencing has the burden of showing by 'clear and convincing evidence' that a 'manifest injustice' would result if the withdrawal were not permitted." *State v. Hunter*, 2005 WI App 5, ¶5, 278 Wis. 2d 419, 692 N.W.2d 256 (citation omitted). A defendant can establish a manifest injustice by proving his plea was involuntary. *State v. Lopez*, 2010 WI App 153, ¶7, 330 Wis. 2d 487, 792 N.W.2d 199.

Whether a defendant voluntarily entered a plea presents a question of constitutional fact. Hunter, 278 Wis. 2d 419, ¶6. An appellate court accepts a circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but determines de novo whether those facts demonstrate a constitutional violation. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Honorable Charles F. Kahn, Jr., presided at Price's plea and sentencing proceedings. The Honorable M. Joseph Donald presided at the postconviction proceedings.

# II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT PARTICIPATE IN THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

A. Under *Williams* and *Hunter*, only direct judicial intervention in the plea bargain process is forbidden.

This court's decisions in *Williams* and *Hunter* provide the legal framework for analyzing Price's claim that the trial court impermissibly participated in the plea bargaining in this case and that his subsequent guilty pleas were involuntary as a matter of law.

In Williams, the trial judge, at the outset of trial, invited Williams, his attorney and the "have a little chat in district attorney to chambers." Williams. 265 Wis. 2d 229. Following the unrecorded conference, the parties returned to the court room and the judge announced that "with the assistance or urging . . . of the Court, that a compromise . . . has been reached between the Government and the Defendant." Id. After the district attornev described the plea agreement and Williams' attorney concurred with the district attorney's description of the agreement, the trial judge asked Williams whether it was his understanding, "after all of these conversations," that he would plead guilty to one of the charges and whether he was prepared to proceed; Williams said "Yes." Id.

During the ensuing plea colloquy, the trial judge attempted to make a record of what occurred in chambers. Id., ¶4. The judge recounted that he had told Williams that he "was not inclined to

send [him] to prison for 30 years" but that "there is still some likelihood that [he] could go to prison" and that "the worst [he] could be looking at would be maybe eight to ten years." *Id*. He also recalled that he had told Williams that he would balance the nature of the offense, which made him "pretty angry," against the fact that he did not "like long-term incarceration for nonviolent offenses for young people," and that he did not know what he would do in terms of sentencing. *Id*.

The court then asked Williams' attorney whether it had "fairly recreated" the in-chambers conversation. *Id.*, ¶5. Defense counsel said that the court had talked about "the numbers of eight to ten as possibly years in prison should [Williams] go to trial and lose" and that while the court did not give a specific number if Williams entered a plea, "there was a discussion of a range from one to three as a possibility." *Id.* 

The court responded that Williams' attorney's recollection of the plea negotiations was "fairly consistent" with its recollection. Id. It then "acknowledged its role in the plea bargaining process," stating, "I'm understanding that to some extent it's not appropriate for Courts to get involved in the plea bargaining." Id., ¶6.

Williams filed a postconviction motion to withdraw his pleas, which the circuit court denied. *Id.*, ¶8. On appeal, the parties agreed that "the circuit court violated Wisconsin's 'longstanding' prohibition on judicial involvement in plea bargaining." *Id.*, ¶12. However, the State argued that because Williams failed to show that the judge's participation in the plea negotiations rendered his guilty pleas involuntary, he was not entitled to withdraw his pleas. *Id.* 

The court of appeals held that a defendant need not demonstrate that the judge's participation actually rendered his pleas involuntarily. Instead, the court adopted a "brightline rule" that "a defendant who has entered a plea, following a judge's participation in the plea negotiation, is conclusively presumed to have entered his plea involuntarily and is entitled to withdraw it." Id., ¶16.

The court of appeals interpreted and distinguished *Williams* in *Hunter*. In *Hunter*, the defendant was charged with possession of cocaine with intent to deliver. *See Hunter*, 278 Wis. 2d 419, ¶2. After the trial court denied Hunter's motion to suppress, it noted that the suppression motion had been identified as a dispositive motion and asked the parties if the case should be set for a projected guilty plea. *Id*. Hunter's attorney informed the court that the case should instead be scheduled for a final pretrial and trial. *Id*.

The trial court responded by telling Hunter that it was unlikely that he would be acquitted given the evidence against him and that while he "may hold out hope for that," "[t]his is a case where you are likely to be convicted." *Id*. The court told Hunter that "[i]f you want to exercise the opportunity to get some credit and in other words to catch a break, then there is a time for coming forward and admitting your guilt." *Id*. The court advised Hunter "to consider carefully what your odds are at trial and consider carefully whether it's in your best interest to try this case given the weighty evidence against you." *Id*.

Hunter later entered a no contest plea to the single charge against him. Id., ¶3. The trial court accepted the plea and imposed a sentence that was

consistent with the State's recommendation under the plea agreement. *Id*.

Hunter filed a postconviction motion to withdraw his plea, alleging that the trial court had improperly influenced him to plead no contest. *Id.*, ¶4. The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing, concluding that *Williams* did not apply and that Hunter had failed to make a sufficient showing that his plea had been coerced. *Id.* 

The court of appeals affirmed. It rejected Hunter's argument that the trial court violated the "bright line" rule of *Williams* that bars any form of judicial participation in plea negotiations before a plea agreement has been reached. Id., ¶7. The court "decline[d] to expand the *Williams* rule to encompass all comments a judge might make regarding the strength of the State's case or the advisability of a defendant giving consideration to a disposition short of trial." Id., ¶8.

The court held that its holding in Williams "expressly applies only to direct iudicial participation in the plea bargaining process itself." Id., ¶12 (quoting Williams, 265 Wis. 2d 229, ¶16). "[T]here is no suggestion in our analysis [in Williams] that the conclusive presumption of involuntariness should extend to any and all comments from the bench that might later be characterized as having prompted a defendant to enter into a plea agreement with the State." Id. "[C]ommenting on the strength of the State's case and urging a defendant to carefully consider his chances of prevailing at trial are many steps removed from the direct judicial participation in plea negotiations that occurred in Williams," the court observed. Id. The court "decline[d] to blur

the *Williams* bright-line rule by extending it to apply to the present facts." *Id*.

In contrast to Williams, the court said in Hunter, "there is no suggestion in the present record that the trial court was a party or even privy to any plea negotiations between the State and Hunter until the parties announced to the court on April 30, 2001, that they had reached a plea agreement." Id., ¶11. "Unlike in Williams, the trial court in this case did not convene an impromptu settlement conference, and it did not make or solicit specific offers of potential sentence ranges. There is nothing in the present record to suggest that the trial court gave the parties any input whatsoever regarding what it considered an appropriate disposition of the charge Hunter was facing." Id. "In short, at no time . . . did the trial court suggest or advocate for a particular plea agreement." Id.

Against that backdrop, the State turns to Price's argument that the judge in this case impermissibly participated in the plea negotiations. Price directs his argument to events at two hearings: the unsuccessful change of plea hearing on August 31, 2012 (61:1-12; A-Ap. 104-12), and a hearing held several weeks later, on September 24, 2012, which was to have been the first day of trial (62:1-2; A-Ap. 116-17).

### B. The August 31, 2012, hearing.

At the August 31 hearing, the parties informed the court that they had reached a plea agreement: Price would enter a guilty plea to Count 2, the State would move to dismiss and read in Counts 1 and 3, and the State would

recommend a prison sentence of unspecified length (61:2; A-Ap. 105). However, during the plea colloquy, Price denied having threatened the use of force when taking the victim's purse, leading the court to reject his plea and announce that the matter would be tried on the date set for trial, September 24, 2012 (61:7-8; A-Ap. 110-11).

After Price again stated that he did not believe that he had threatened the victim, the court said that it would be the jury's job to decide that issue (61:9; A-Ap. 112). The court then made the following statement, which is one of the bases for Price's argument:

You know, [assistant district attorney] Ms. Hardtke, [defense counsel] Mr. Goodrich, there is a possibility if you want to work out a slightly different kind of agreement, and that would be not more [sic: for?] robberies but for thefts from person on multiple counts, if there would be three counts of theft from person and no robbery, there would be the same amount of exposure or more, but, you know, that's up to the parties to decide. The trial is on, and I will see you then on September 24. I don't see any other trial that will interfere with our ability to have this one.

(Id.)

The court's off-the-cuff comment that the parties might want to work out an agreement in which the robbery charges would be amended to theft charges, though ill-advised, did not rise to the level of impermissible judicial participation in plea bargaining. The court expressly stated that it was "up to the parties to decide" (*id.*). Most significantly, there is nothing in the record that suggests that either party ever gave the court's comment any consideration whatsoever. The only

mention of it at any subsequent court proceeding came during the September 24, 2012, hearing, when the court was describing its notes of the prior hearing (62:7-8; A-Ap. 122-23). At no other point at the September 24 hearing (62:1-49; A-Ap. 116-64), and at no point at the October 5, 2012, final pretrial conference (63:1-28) or the October 6, 2012, change of plea hearing (64:1-17) was there any mention of the possibility of amending the robbery charges to theft. The two charges to which Price eventually pleaded guilty six weeks later were robbery and attempted robbery, not theft (64:2-3, 12).

The circuit court's isolated and disregarded remark about possibly amending the robbery charges to theft is a world apart from the active involvement in plea negotiations that this court found improper in *Williams*. Price's challenge to his plea can succeed, therefore, only if the court's conduct several weeks later at the September 24, 2012, hearing constituted impermissible involvement in the plea negotiations.

# C. The September 24, 2012, proceeding.

The September 24 proceeding was scheduled to be the trial date (62:2; A-Ap. 117). However, after the State informed the court that it was prepared to proceed to trial, defense counsel asked for an adjournment (*id.*). The court responded by noting that it had set a firm trial date at the previous hearing and asked defense counsel, "What's the confusion?" (62:3; A-Ap. 118). Counsel said that he had had further discussions with Price and that it was counsel's "impression that

we were in the same posture of taking the plea today" (62:4; A-Ap. 119). The court responded, "[t]hen let's do that" (*id*.).

Defense counsel informed the court that Price wanted to do so but that he had learned several days earlier that the State had withdrawn its offer and that Price was potentially facing two additional charges (id.). Counsel said that the State was now willing to resolve the matter if Price would plead guilty to two of the original charges (62:5-6; A-Ap. 120-21). He said that he had been working with the State that morning without success to reach an agreement and so was requesting an adjournment (62:6; A-Ap. 121).

The court then reviewed its notes from the August 31 proceeding and pointed out to defense counsel that it had said that the case was going to trial that day unless the parties resolved the case in advance of the trial date (62:7-9; A-Ap. 122-24). Defense counsel responded that the problem was that the defense had just learned the previous Friday that the State's offer was no longer on the table, that he and Price "were working out whether or not he was going to change his understanding of what he was pleading to, to come to court today and make that plea of guilty," and that Price's understanding had in fact changed (62:9-10; A-Ap. 124-25).

The court, again noting that the trial was supposed to begin that day, asked the prosecutor, "[i]s it settled or not"? (62:10; A-Ap. 125). The prosecutor said that it was not (*id*.).

The court then asked defense counsel whether, if the plea colloquy were resumed at the

point where it had stopped previously, "Mr. Price is going to remember it differently now" (62:12; A-Ap. 127). Defense counsel responded that Price was prepared to plead guilty to Count 2, robbery with threat of force (62:12-13; A-Ap. 127-28). The court then asked Price to describe what had happened when, as Price had stated at the prior plea hearing, he took the victim's purse (62:13; A-Ap. 128). Price started to answer that question, but defense counsel asked the court for a moment and conferred with Price (62:13-14; A-Ap. 128-29).

The court asked the State about the number of witnesses it planned to call (62:14; A-Ap. 129). After the prosecutor answered that question, he informed the court that the State was prepared to try all three counts or to accept guilty pleas to Counts 2 and 3, but that it was not willing to proceed with its original offer (62:15; A-Ap. 130).

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